0+7

FILED
SID J. WHITE
DEC 21 1992

BLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,780

CITY OF MIAMI BEACH, Petitioner

v.

RUSSELL GALBUT, Respondent

SEEKING DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION REVIEW OF
QUESTION CERTIFIED BY
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT
IN
Case No. 92-86

PETITONER'S BRIEF ON MERITS

LAURENCE FEINGOLD
CITY ATTORNEY
JEAN K. OLIN
FIRST ASST. CITY ATTORNEY
ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER
CITY OF MIAMI BEACH
1700 CONVENTION CENTER DRIVE
MIAMI BEACH, FLORIDA 33139
(305) 673-7470

#

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE

On December 13, 1991, Eleventh Circuit Court Judge Roger Silver entered his "Order on Report of General Master and Final Judgment for Defendant, City of Miami Beach" (R. 46-48), holding that Plaintiff Russell Galbut was prohibited from being reappointed to the City of Miami Beach's Zoning Board of Adjustment pursuant to the State's Anti-Nepotism Law, §112.3135, Florida Statutes. Court's Order adopted the General Master's recommendation, holding that Miami Beach City Commissioner Sy Eisenberg, as a member of the City of Miami Beach Commission, is a "public official" as defined by §112.3135(a)(b), Florida Statutes, in whom is vested the authority to appoint individuals to the City's Zoning Board of Adjustment, and since Galbut, as son-in-law of Eisenberg is a "relative" under §112.3135(1)(c), Florida Statutes, the State's Anti-Nepotism Law prohibits the subject appointment. The Court further held that the appointment at issue was prohibited whether or not Eisenberg abstained from voting on the issue of Galbut's appointment, as allowing the remaining six members of the City Commission to vote on the issue of Galbut's bid for Board of Adjustment membership would circumvent the law's intent.

Galbut appealed the Circuit Court's Order to the Third District Court of Appeal (R. 45), resulting in the District Court's June 16, 1992 opinion (R. 99-102) reversing the lower court's ruling, holding that Florida's Anti-Nepotism Law did not prohibit Galbut from being reappointed so long as Commissioner Eisenberg recused himself, and so long as Eisenberg did not in any way

advocate Galbut for appointment. Appellee's "Motion for Rehearing and Rehearing En Banc and Request for Certification of Question" filed on July 1, 1992 was disposed of by the Third District via its October 13, 1992 opinion (R. 103-105) in which it denied the City's rehearing request yet certified the following question as one of great public importance:

WHETHER THE ANTI-NEPOTISM LAW PROHIBITS THE APPOINTMENT OF A CITY COMMISSIONER'S RELATIVE TO THE CITY'S ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT WHERE (1) APPOINTMENTS ARE MADE BY A FIVE/SEVENTHS VOTE OF THE CITY COMMISSION; (2) THE RELATED CITY COMMISSIONER ABSTAINS FROM VOTING; (3) THE RELATED CITY COMMISSIONER TAKES NO ACTION WHICH IN ANYWAY ADVOCATES THE APPOINTMENT OF THE RELATIVE.

"Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction" was filed by the City of Miami Beach on November 9, 1992. On November 23, 1992 this Court entered its "Order Postponing Decision on Jurisdiction and Briefing Schedule" in which the parties were directed to file briefs on the merits.

## ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

WHETHER THE ANTI-NEPOTISM LAW PROHIBITS THE APPOINTMENT OF A CITY COMMISSIONER'S RELATIVE TO THE CITY'S ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT WHERE (1) APPOINTMENTS ARE MADE BY A FIVE/SEVENTHS VOTE OF THE CITY COMMISSION; (2) THE RELATED CITY COMMISSIONER ABSTAINS FROM VOTING; (3) THE RELATED CITY COMMISSIONER TAKES NO ACTION WHICH IN ANYWAY ADVOCATES THE APPOINTMENT OF THE RELATIVE.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District erred in reversing the Circuit Court's Order and in ruling that §112.3135, Fla. Stats., Florida's Anti-Nepotism Law, did not prohibit the appointment to municipal boards of individuals related to members of the appointing body so long as such members recused themselves from voting on the appointment. Dating back to 1973, the Attorney General's Office, as well as the State Commission on Ethics and the courts, have adhered to a liberal interpretation of said the Anti-Nepotism law concluding that abstention of the related official does not and cannot resolve concerns with regards to nepotism. See Morris v. Seely, 541 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). A statute enacted for the public benefit, such as §112.3135, Fla. Stats., should be construed liberally in favor of the public since only such interpretation will foster public confidence and belief in our elected legislators. Inasmuch as a court must avoid interpreting a statute in a way which ascribes to the legislature an intent to create an absurd result, §112.3135, Fla. Stats. must be interpreted to absolutely prohibit Galbut's appointment to the Zoning Board of Adjustment regardless of whether his father-in-law, Miami Beach City Commissioner Sy Eisenberg, abstains from the appointing vote. See Baillie v. Town of Medley, 262 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972).

#### ARGUMENT

THE ANTI-NEPOTISM LAW ABSOLUTELY PROHIBITS THE APPOINTMENT OF A CITY COMMISSIONER'S RELATIVE TO THE CITY'S ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT WHERE (1) APPOINTMENTS ARE MADE BY A FIVE/SEVENTHS VOTE OF THE CITY COMMISSION; (2) THE RELATED CITY COMMISSIONER ABSTAINS FROM VOTING; AND (3) THE RELATED CITY COMMISSIONER TAKES NO ACTION WHICH IN ANY WAY ADVOCATES THE APPOINTMENT OF THE RELATIVE.

Florida's Anti-Nepotism Law, Section 112.3135(2)(a), Florida Statutes, provides:

A public official may not appoint, employ, promote, or advance, or advocate employment, promotions, appointment, advancement, in or to a position in the agency in which he is serving or <u>over which he</u> exercises jurisdiction or control any individual who is a relative of the public official. An individual may not be appointed, employed, promoted, or advanced in or to a position in an agency if such appointment, employment, promotion, or advancement has been advocated by a public official, serving in or exercising jurisdiction or control over the agency, who is a relative of the individual. (Emphasis added.)

Previous opinions by the Attorney General dating back to 1973, as well as opinions of the State Commission on Ethics and of the courts, have interpreted Florida's Anti-Nepotism Law as absolutely prohibiting relatives of members of appointing authorities from being appointed by boards or commissions on which their relatives serve, recognizing that the purpose of the statute could be circumvented if abstention by the related official was allowed.

A board of county commissioners, which possess the sole power to hire employees, could not employ the first cousin of a member of the

<sup>1/</sup> The City Commission exercises such jurisdiction and control over the Zoning Board of Adjustment as the Board's powers and areas of authority are regulated and determined by the Zoning Codes passed by the City Commission.

board even though the related member did not promote or advocate the relative's employment, did not participate in any interview with the relative, and abstained from voting on the question of the relative's employment. If any different conclusion was to be reached, the purpose and intent of the anti-nepotism law could be easily circumvented merely by allowing a commission member to abstain. each member of a commission were allowed to abstain, the board could conceivably employ relatives of each of its members. Therefore, the Topeekeegee Yugnee Park Commission may not employ the brother-in-law of a member of the commission despite the related commission member's abstention from voting on such employment. 1973 Op. Att'y. Gen. Fla. 073-335 (September 12, 1973).

[I]f abstention by the related official were allowed, the purpose of the anti-nepotism provision would be circumvented and, conceivably, the family members of all the members of the appointing body could be appointed if the relatives abstained in turn. For this reason, the prior interpretation of the Anti-Nepotism Law concludes that relatives of members of appointing authorities simply are ineligible for appointment by the boards or commissions on which their relatives serve. (Emphasis added.)

Fla. Commission on Ethics Advisory Opinion 90-58 (September 7, 1990). The above-referenced opinion of the Ethics Commission relied specifically upon Morris v. Seely, 541 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), a case in which the First District Court of Appeal considered the plain meaning of the State's anti-nepotism law and held that the statute clearly applied to preclude a sheriff's promotion of his brother regardless of whether the sheriff abstained from voting on such employment and otherwise played no active role in the promotion because abstention does not resolve concerns with regard to nepotism. The Morris court, in considering

the issue of abstention, determined that concerns pertaining to nepotism cannot be resolved by delegating the decision-making power to another individual. See also Fla. Commission on Ethics Advisory Opinion 91-29 (June 6, 1991) (County Commissioner's daughter prohibited from being appointed by non-related County Commissioners to advisory board even were Commissioner/relative to abstain from vote); Fla. Commission on Ethics Advisory Opinion 90-58, supra (Anti-Nepotism Law prohibits a collegial body from appointing a relative of one of its members to serve on an advisory board); Fla. Commission on Ethics Advisory Opinion 89-53 (October 26 1989) (son of city council member may not be appointed to a non-compensated advisory board position even should the official abstain from voting on the appointment); 1977 Op. Att'y. Gen. Fla. 077-130, supra (abstention by a governing body member from voting on the employment of his relatives did not avoid violations of Florida's Anti-Nepotism Law).

Most recently, in Fla. Commission on Ethics Advisory Opinion 92-50 (October 15, 1992), it was again opined that relatives of city council members may not be reappointed to uncompensated positions on city advisory boards:

Previous opinions interpreting §112.3135(2)(a), Fla. Stats., to prohibit the appointment of relatives of members collegial bodies to uncompensated positions on advisory boards by the collegial body, even where the member of the appointing body abstains, are reaffirmed. See, COE 91-29, COE 90-58, COE 89-53. The decision in Galbut v. City of Miami Beach, 17 FLW D. 1504 (June 16, 1992), is in conflict with this opinion. ...we believe that our interpretation of §112.3135, is consistent with Fla. Stats.,

legislative intent behind the Anti-Nepotism Inasmuch Statute. as an determinations with regards to a statute's interpretation will receive great deference in the absence of clear error or conflict with legislative intent [Tri-State System v. Dept. of Transportation, 491 So. 2d 1192, 1193 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986)], we affirm our earlier opinions on this issue. In doing so, we acknowledge that we are in conflict with the Third District Court of Appeals' opinion in Galbut. McDonalds Corp. v. Dept. of Transportation, 535 So. 2d 323 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988).

The Third District agreed with Galbut in holding that since §112.3135 "is penal in nature, id. §112.317, any doubts must be resolved in favor of a narrow construction so that the public official (and the official's relatives) are clearly on notice of what conduct is proscribed. See State v. Llopis, 257 So. 2d 17, 18 - 19 (Fla. 1971)." (R. 102.) In its Appellate brief, Galbut maintained since §112.3135, Fla. Stats., is penal in character, strict construction is required, citing State ex rel. Robinson v. Keefe, 149 So. 638 (Fla. 1933) and Baillie v. Town of Medley, 262 These cases, however, are So. 2d 693 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972). distinguishable from the instant case. In Robinson, this Court held that the anti-nepotism statute did not bar the appointment of teachers since the "legislature has by other complete statutes, ...provided a special system for the appointment and tenure of employment for school teachers." Id. at 638. Conversely, no system of merit for City of Miami Beach Board of Adjustment members has been established prior to membership appointment thereon, thus reinforcing the necessity for absolute adherence to the State's

anti-nepotism statute.<sup>2</sup> In <u>Baillie</u>, the Third District Court rejected the argument that "any other political subdivision" as contained with §112.3135(1)(a)(6)'s definition of "Agency" included "towns", because to do so might render many of Florida's town or villages inoperative:

...As a practical matter, Florida contains many small hamlets and towns...In these small communities of less than three hundred voters, the probability is that many of the residents are related...within the fourth degree, either by consanguinity or by affinity...The application of [§112.3135, Fla. Stat.] to "towns" might render the municipal corporation inoperative for lack of qualified persons to serve as elected or appointed officials. The common weal would not be served.

<u>Baillie</u> at 697. In so ruling, the <u>Baillie</u> court avoided interpreting the Anti-Nepotism statute in a way which would have ascribed to the legislature an intent to create an absurd result.

Petitioner City of Miami Beach submits that the more appropriate rule of statutory construction is that a statute enacted for public benefit should be construed liberally in favor

<sup>2/</sup> The District Court's order stated that "in other contexts in which an individual commissioner must recuse himself or herself because of conflict of interest, it has not been thought that the entire commission must also be recused." (R. 102.) District Court has failed to recognize that in other conflict of interest situations a system of merit is clearly established in which to determine the worth of the related individual's bid for business relationship with the municipality, that being objective standards of the "product" which is at issue. Conversely, an individual related to a city commissioner who seeks employment or appointment to a municipal position lacks any ostensible merit other than the relationship itself concluding that abstention of the related public official will not resolve concerns with regards the merit of any relative/applicant; if anything, a heightened need requiring absolute situations call for prohibitions to said appointments.

of the public, even if it contains a penal provision -- this was the rule applied by the Florida Supreme Court when construing the "government in the sunshine law" (§286.011 Fla. Stats.) in Board of Public Construction of Broward County v. Doran, 224 So. 2d 693, 669 (Fla. 1969), and in City of Miami Beach v. Berns, 245 So. 38, 40 (Fla. 1971).

In <u>Doran</u>, the Supreme Court noted that "one purpose of the Sunshine Law was to maintain the faith of the public in governmental agencies." <u>Id</u>. at 699. The identical purpose lies behind the Code of Ethics for public officers and employees:

It is hereby declared to be the policy of the state that no officer or employee of a state agency or of a county, city, or other political subdivision of the state, and no member of the legislature or legislative employee, shall have any interest, financial or otherwise, direct or indirect; engage in business transaction or professional activity; or incur any obligation of any nature which is in substantial conflict with the proper discharge of his duties in the public interest. To implement this policy and strengthen the faith and confidence of the people of the state and their government, there is enacted a Code of Ethics setting forth standards of conduct required of state, county, and city officers and employees, and of officers and employees of other political subdivisions of the state, in the performance of their official duties. It is the intent of the Legislature that this code shall serve not only as a guide for the official conduct of public servants in this state, but also as a basis for discipline of those who violate the (Emphasis added). provisions of this part. §112.311(5), Fla. Stat.

It is declared to be the policy of the state that public officers and employees, state and local, are agents of the people and hold their positions for the benefit of the public. They are bound to uphold the Constitution of the

United States and the State Constitution and to perform efficiently and faithfully their duties under the laws of the federal, state, and local governments. Such officers and employees are bound to observe, in their official acts, the highest standards of ethics consistent with this code and the advisory opinions rendered with respect hereto regardless considerations, of personal recognizing that promoting the public interest and maintaining the respect of the people in their government must be of foremost concern. (Emphasis added). §112.311(6), Fla. Stat.

Similarly, the Supreme Court indicated in <u>State v. Hamilton</u>, 388 So. 2d 561, 563 (Fla. 1980), that the Air and Water Pollution Control Act contained in Chapter 403, Florida Statutes, should be construed liberally because it was intended to operate in the public interest. The Code of Ethics also is grounded in this policy:

It is essential to the proper conduct and operation of government that public officials be independent and impartial and that public office not be used for private gain other than the enumeration provided by law. The public interest, therefore, requires that the law protect against conflict of interest and established standards for the conduct of elected officials and government employees in situations where conflicts may exist. (Emphasis added). §112.311(1), Fla. Stat.

The people of Florida have found it necessary to compel conflict of interest restrictions upon the public officers and employees who serve them, by adopting two constitutional provisions mandating ethics in government. See Art. II, §8, Fla. Const. and Art. III, §18, Fla. Const. The Code of Ethics which has resulted from this mandate should be construed liberally for the public benefit —without such a reading, cronyism will flourish in the appointments

of municipal board members throughout this State.

Allowing public officials to appoint their fellow legislators' relatives to board membership will result in no more than a blind application of the law, which application will have the prime effect of granting special benefits to such relative/applicants. Under the opinion of the District Court, citizens living within the City of Miami Beach who are unrelated to City Commissioners, yet who wish to otherwise fulfill their civic duty, will be at an obvious disadvantage with regards to their opportunity to serve their community solely because of their lack of familial status. The Third District's distinction between one appointing official versus appointment by a collegial body serves of no significance whether or not Galbut is appointed by his father-in-law or by his father-in-law's fellow Commissioners, the purposes to be served by preventing relatives of public officials from being appointed to municipal boards would not be met.

As an example of the ludicrous results that would occur should the Third District's order be upheld, consider the following: pursuant to the Court's Order, Galbut (Commissioner Eisenberg's son-in-law) could be appointed to the City's Zoning Board of Adjustment if five of the remaining six City Commissioners vote to do so. Similarly, Mayor Seymour Gelber's wife could be appointed to a future vacancy on the Board of Adjustment assuming, according to the District Court, that Gelber abstained from voting and the question received approval from five out of the six non-related Commissioners. If not prohibited by law, this same pattern of

potential appointment could and very likely would occur with regards to the relatives of remaining City Commissioners Martin Shapiro, Susan Gottlieb, Neisen Kasdin, David Pearlson and Abe The appointments would then result in a Zoning Board which functions not as the independent tribunal it now serves as, yet as a "mini-City Commission", adhering to the zoning views and preferences of the related Commissioners which appointed its members. Due to human nature, the probability exists that a Zoning Board composed entirely of relatives of the appointing Commission will follow the wishes of said Commission. In order to maintain the independence of rulings resulting from the Zoning Board it is critical that every step be taken in order to avoid even the potential for influence over these zoning decisions - consistent with the State Code of Ethics, such appearances of impropriety must be avoided at all costs. The fact that the City of Miami Beach's Zoning Board of Adjustment is the final, decision-making body regarding variances, appeals from which are taken to the appellate division of the Circuit Court, underscores the importance of preventing the City Commission members from acquiring any voice in the decisions of that body.

#### CONCLUSION

Section 112.3135, Florida Statutes, encompassing Florida's Anti-Nepotism Law, requires a liberal statutory construction so as to effectuate the legislative intent behind the statute's enactment. A liberal construction will avoid the ludicrous result

which will occur should the Third District's Order not be reversed, which Order would allow all relatives of public officials to be appointed to any municipal board. The stated legislative intent, as confirmed by the courts of this state as well as the Florida Attorney General's Office and State Commission on Ethics, evidences strict and absolute deterrence of cronyism in government by restricting the subject appointment regardless of whether the appointing relative abstains from the appointing vote.

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