IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 80,780

CITY OF MIAMI BEACH, Petitioner

v.

RUSSELL GALBUT, Respondent

SEEKING DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION REVIEW OF QUESTION CERTIFIED BY DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT IN Case No. 92-86

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DAVID H. NEVEL ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT 1111 Lincoln Road PH 802 Miami Beach, FL 33139 (305) 538-6483

2-1

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

The anti-nepotism statute is penal in nature, and should be strictly construed. The monetary penalty that it imposes (an amount as high as \$5,000) has traditionally been regarded by the courts as a form of punishment. <u>United States v. Futura</u>, 339 F. Supp. 162 (N.D. Fla. 1972). The City's comparison of the antinepotism law to the Florida Sunshine Law for purposes of liberal construction is misplaced. The Sunshine Law states that "All meetings...at which official acts are to be taken are to be declared public meetings." Section 286.011 (1), Florida Statutes. Hence, the language of that statute did not require the Court to

resort to a liberal construction in to determine that informal meetings which result in official action are within the purview of the statute. Furthermore, even a liberal construction does not justify an interpretation which would prohibit conduct not clearly proscribed by the statute and which would deny an individual the right to know in advance what conduct is proscribed. <u>See Rush v.</u> <u>Dept. of Prof. Reg. Bd. of Podiatry</u>, 448 So. 2d 26 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

Finally, the court below was correct in disturbing the Commission's interpretation of the anti-nepotism law. The Commission's reliance on the various cases cited on page 15 of its Amicus Curiae Brief is misplaced. Unlike the instant case, the cases cited by the Commission dealt with an agency's interpretation of a critical term where no statutory definition existed. In the case at bar, all critical terms of the anti-nepotism law are clearly defined in the statute itself. The City is urging the Court not to define a critical term, but rather to rewrite the antinepotism law to prohibit conduct that is not clearly proscribed by the statute. The judgment below should therefore be affirmed.

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

FLORIDA'S ANTI-NEPOTISM LAW DOES NOT PROHIBIT THE APPOINTMENT OF A CITY COMMISSIONER'S RELATIVE TO THE CITY'S ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT WHERE (1) APPOINTMENTS ARE MADE BY A FIVE/SEVENTHS VOTE OF THE CITY COMMISSION; (2) THE RELATED CITY COMMISS-SIONER ABSTAINS FROM VOTING; AND (3) THE RELATED CITY COMMISSIONER TAKES NO ACTION WHICH IN ANY WAY ADVOCATES THE APPOINTMENT OF THE RELATIVE.

The Third District Court of Appeal properly held that Florida's Anti-Nepotism Law, Section 112.3135, Florida Statutes does not prohibit the Respondent, RUSSELL GALBUT ("GALBUT") from seeking re-appointment to the Miami Beach Zoning Board of Adjustment provided that his father-in-law, City Commissioner Eisenberg recuses himself from voting, and does not advocate in any way GALBUT's appointment. Section 112.3135 provides:

> A public official may not appoint, employ, promote, or advance, or advocate for appointment, employment, promotions, or advancement, in or to a position in the agency in which he is serving or which he exercises jurisdiction or control any individual who is a relative of the public official. An individual may not be appointed, employed, promoted, or advanced in or to a position in the agency <u>if such appointment</u>, <u>employment</u>, promotion, or advancement has <u>been advocated by a public official</u>, serving in or exercising jurisdiction or control over the agency, who is a relative of the individual. (Emphasis added).

The Third District Court of Appeal correctly noted that the statute "only reaches affirmative action by the public official to make the appointment or advocate the appointment." <u>Galbut v. City of Miami</u> <u>Beach</u>, 17 FLW D. 1504 (June 16, 1992). It is undisputed that there was no affirmative action taken by City Commissioner Eisenberg to promote or advocate GALBUT's appointment. (R. 51.) By affording this penal statute its proper strict construction, the Third District's decision is consistent with the Legislative Intent and Declaration of Policy embodied in section 112.311, Florida Statutes. Section 112.311(2) provides:

> It is also essential that government attract those citizens best qualified to serve. Thus, the law against conflict of interest must be so designed as not to impede unreasonably or unnecessarily the recruitment and retention by government of those best qualified to serve. (Emphasis added).

Section 112.311(4) reiterates this intent:

It is the intent of this act to implement these objectives of protecting the integrity of government and of facilitating the recruitment and retention of qualified personnel by prescribing restrictions against conflict of of interest without creating unnecessary barriers to public service. (Emphasis added).

GALBUT served on the Miami Beach Zoning Board of Adjustment for ten years. He is well qualified for the position, and desires to continue serving the public in this unpaid capacity. Provided that he can receive five votes of the other City Commissioners, GALBUT is entitled to reappointment, and his relative's mere presence on the City Commission should not create an "unnecessary barrier" to this service.

A. <u>The Anti-Nepotism Law Should Be Strictly Construed</u> <u>As It Imposes Severe Penalties For Violations</u>.

Section 112.317, Florida Statutes (1991) outlines the penalties for Code of Ethics violations. In pertinent part, this statute provides:

(1) Violation of any provision of this part, including, but not limited to, any failure

to file disclosures required by this part or violation of any standard of conduct imposed by this part, or violation of any provision of s. 8, Article II of the State Constitution, <u>in addition to any criminal</u> <u>penalty or other civil penalty shall</u>,... and may be punished by one or more of the following:

- (a) In the case of a public officer:1. Impeachment
 - 2. Removal from Office
 - 3. Suspension from Office
 - 4. Public Censure or Reprimand
 - 5. Forfeiture of no more than one-third salary per month for no more than 12 months.
 - 6. A civil penalty not to exceed \$5,000.
 - 7. Restitution of any pecuniary benefits received because of the violation committed. (Emphasis added).

The law is well-settled that a statute imposing a penalty, even a civil penalty, must be strictly construed. <u>Hotel & Restaurant</u> <u>Comm. v. Sunny Seas No. 1</u>, 104 So. 2d 570 (Fla. 1958); <u>Gardinier v.</u> <u>Florida Dept. of Pollution Control</u>, 300 So. 2d 75 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974); <u>First Federal Savings and Loan Ass'n of Seminole County v.</u> <u>Dept. of Business Regulations, Div. of Florida Land Sales and</u> <u>Condominiums</u>, 472 So. 2d 494 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985).

In the instant case, the City initially agreed that Florida's Anti-Nepotism Law should be strictly construed "in view of the serious penalties for violations thereof." (R. 15). Then, with an interesting twist of logic, the City concluded that this clearly penal statute must be strictly construed <u>against</u> the individual upon whom the penalties are sought to be imposed! The City has now changed its theory, and is arguing instead for a liberal construction of the statute.

In State ex rel. Robinson v. Keefe, 149 So. 2d 638 (Fla. 1933), this Court held that the predecessor Florida Anti-Nepostism Law (section 116.111, Florida Statutes) was penal in character, and therefore must be strictly construed. See also State v. Llopis, 257 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 1971);¹ Baillie v. Town of Medley, 262 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972) (relying on this Court's construction of the anti-nepotism law in Robinson, <u>supra</u>). The City and The Commission argue that because the statute has been "decriminalized," the various punishments set forth in section 112.311 are no longer penal. The monetary penalty, however, (here, an amount as high as \$5,000) has traditionally been regarded by the courts as a form of criminal punishment. United States v. Futura, 339 F. Supp. 162 (N.D. Fla. 1972). This Court should not retreat from its previous ruling that the anti-nepotism law is penal in character, thus requiring strict construction.

The City and the Commission further argue that the statute should be liberally interpreted because it was enacted for a public benefit. (City's Brief, at 10; Brief of Amicus Curiae, at 7). Both parties rely on <u>City of Miami Beach v. Berns</u>, 245 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1971) and <u>Board of Public Instruction v. Doran</u>, 224 So. 2d

¹ The Commission contends that this case does not apply because it involves a vagueness challenge rather than an issue of statutory construction. (Brief of Amicus Curiae, at 7). However, if this were the case, then the Commission's relaince on <u>State v.</u> <u>Hamilton</u>, 388 So. 2d 564 (Fla. 1980) for the proposition that a statute enacted for the public benefit should be liberally construed is equally wrong because <u>Hamilton</u> concerned the vagueness of the statute rather than an issue of statutory construction.

693 (Fla. 1969)² for this proposition. Both of these cases involved the Government in the Sunshine Law, section 286.011 (1), Florida Statutes, (1967), which provides that "All meetings of any board or commission of any state agency...at which official acts are to be taken are to be declared public meetings..." (Emphasis In both cases, this Court determined that the statute added). applied to formal, as well as informal meetings which result in official action, such as the possible castigation of personnel, acquisition and sale of real estate (See Doran, at 696), condemnation matters, personnel matters, pending litigation, or any other matter relating to city government (See Berns, at 40). However, the very language of the statute allows for such a construction, and did not require an expansive reading of the In <u>Berns</u>, the Court noted that "[t]he intent of the act, statute. as reflected by its language and legislative setting is absorbed into and becomes a part of the law itself." Berns, supra, at 40.

In the instant case the legislators expressed their intent in the clear and specific language of the anti-nepotism law. The language of section 112.3135 reflects the legislature's specific, twice-stated concern that the statute not unreasonably or unnecessarily impede the government's retention and recruitment of

² In <u>Doran</u>, the defendant challenged the statute claiming that (1) the statute was so vague that it did not afford procedural due process of law, (2) it constituted "an unlawful delegation of the legislative prerogative to the judiciary, and (3) more than one topic and subject matter is contained within the statute. No real issue of statutory construction arose in <u>Doran</u>.

those best qualified to serve. Accordingly, the legislature designed the statute such that only overt action on the part of the related public official would prohibit service by his relative. The legislative setting also reflects this intent. The Commission notes that "[w]hen the legislature transferred the anti-nepotism provisions into the Code of Ethics in Chapter 112, Part III, Florida Statutes, it did so without changing the operative language of the prohibition of any pertinent definitions. (Brief of Amicus Curiae, at 12). If the legislature had intended for the City's creative theory of "implied advocacy" to emerge, it could have amended the statute to reflect such an intent. It did not do so; the statute quite properly proscribes overt acts of nepotism, and does not provide for guilt by association. Clearly, "the legislature is conclusively presumed to have a working knowledge of the English language and when a statute has been drafted in such a manner as to clearly convey a specific meaning, the only proper function of the Court is to effectuate this legislative intent." Florida Racing Comm'n v. McLaughlin, 102 So. 2d 574 (Fla. 1958).

Even assuming arguendo that the anti-nepotism statute is to be liberally construed because it protects the general welfare, this does not justify a construction which would prohibit conduct not clearly proscribed by the statute, and which would deny an individual the right to know in advance what conduct is proscribed. <u>See Rush v. Dept. of Prof. Reg. Bd. of Podiatry</u>, 448 So. 2d 26 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

To apply this statute in the manner advocated by the City and

the Commission would violate Due Process of Law.

A statute must be sufficiently explict in its description of the acts, conduct or conditions required or forbidden, to prescribe the elements of an offense with reasonable certainty and make known to those to whom it applies what conduct on their part will render them liable for its penalties. <u>Doran</u>, at 698.

Section 112.3135 states that a public official may not appoint, promote, or advocate for appointment a relative to employment within an agency over which the public official exercises jurisdiction or control. Likewise, the relative cannot be appointed, employed or promoted if the related public official advocated the appointment or promotion. The statute does not say that the mere presence of a public official on a collegial body-who recuses himself from the vote on his relative's appointment and does not advocate the appointment--is also subject to penalties. The plain and unambiguous language of the statute requires that this Court affirm the decision of the Third District Court of Appeals.

B. <u>The Third District Court of Appeals Properly</u> <u>Disturbed The Administrative Interpretation</u> <u>Of This Statute As It Is Clearly Erroneous</u>.

The City and the Commission rely on <u>Morris v. Seeley</u>, 541 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) primarily because the First District utilized various Attorney General opinions in reaching its conclusion that a sheriff violates the anti-nepotism law even if he abstains from voting on his relative's employment.³ However,

³ The City states that "...the courts have adhered to a liberal interpretation of said the [sic] Anti-Nepotism Law..." (City's Brief, at 4.) However, the courts have continually

<u>Morris</u> is clearly distinguishable from the instant case in that the sheriff or one of his designees was required to sign the final promotion order. The sheriff in <u>Morris</u> was therefore caught on the horns of a dilemma under the statute: whether he abstained or not, he was still in violation of the anti-nepotism law by virtue of the overt act he was required to perform. In the instant case, no affirmative action by Commissioner Eisenberg is required to effectuate Galbut's reappointment.⁴

The Commission also relies on various cases cited on page 15 of its Amicus Brief for the proposition that courts will not depart from the agency's interpretation of a statute unless clearly However, each of these cases involved an agency's erroneous. interpretation of a critical term or phrase in a statute where no statutory definition was provided. See PW Ventures, Inc. v. Nichols, 533 So. 2d 281 (Fla. 1988) (decision hinged on whether "to the public" meant the general public or any one individual member of the public); Florida Waterworks v. Florida Pub. Ser. Com'n, 473 1985)(determining that terms 2d 237 (Fla. 1st DCA So. "contribution-in-aid of construction and service availabilty charges were synonymous); Natelson v. Dept. of Ins., 454 So. 2d 31 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) (construing "lack of fitness or trustworthiness to engage in business of insurance as including conviction of

interpreted this statute strictly. <u>See</u>, <u>Robinson</u>, <u>Baillie</u>, and <u>Galbut</u>, <u>supra</u>.

^{4.} The Third District properly denied conflict certification because the facts of <u>Morris</u> are so clearly distinguishable from those of the case at bar.

criminal conspiracy to traffic in illicit drugs); <u>Little Munyon</u> <u>Island v. Dept. of Environ. Reg.</u>, 492 So. 2d 235 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986)(agency's interpretation of "stationary" did not conflict with legislative intent when the term is not defined in the statute); <u>Florida Power Corp. v. Dept. of Environ. Reg.</u>, 431 So. 2d 684 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985)(agency's interpretation of term "site-specific" does not conflict with statutory scheme when no definition of term is included in statute). In light of the absence of a statutory definition in these cases, it was proper for the the agency to flesh-out some parameters for purposes of applying the law and giving meaning to the statute.

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